

GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA (GPN)



PARTY CONSTITUTION

CONSTITUTION OF THE GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA (GPN)

PREAMBLE

Realizing the onerous responsibilities and challenges associated with democratic governance in Nigeria after the last two decades of democracy; realizing the need to explore more opportunities to raise the nation to the highest level of economic, intellectual and moral performance and determined to build a more prosperous nation through a sound and lasting democratic governance.

To work together for the continued restoration of democracy in Nigeria, the achievement of a vibrant economy and total eradication of poverty and corruption in the nation.

Now THEREFORE, WE, MEMBERS OF THE GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA (GPN), for the purpose of continued democratic governance and for the promotion of the ideals and aspiration of our party do HEREBY ENACT AND GIVE TO OURSELVES the following constitution.

PART 1

1. NAME OF THE PARTY

a) The political party which shall be known as "The Green Party of Nigeria"

(referred to in this constitution as "The Party" or GPN)

b) In all publications of the green party of Nigeria the term "Green Party of Nigeria" or "GPN" shall be synonymous.

2. SUPREMACY OF THE CONSTITUTION

Subject to the provisions of the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999 (as amended) and any other law in force, this constitution shall be supreme and its provisions shall have binding force on all members and organs of the Party.

3. SLOGAN

The Slogan of the Party shall be **GPN!!! Progress!!!**

4. MOTTO

Security, Equity and Prosperity.

5. FLAG AND EMBLEM

The Colour of the Party Flag shall be Green.

Map of Nigeria in green on a white background with the right-hand side of a human being embossed on the green background of the said map. All of this sits on a yellow ribbon with the acronym GPN written on it.

6. REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered head office of the Party shall be in the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja and there may be such branch offices as the Party may, from time to time approve.

7. CHARACTER AND ETHICS

- a) The Party shall be democratic organization and shall pursue its objectives without regard to race, creed, religion or ethnic affiliation.
- b) The Party shall contest all elections in Nigeria and shall, for that purpose draw its support from all sections of the society.
- c) The Party shall support the emancipation and participation of women, physically challenged persons and the youth by encouraging their representation at all levels.
- d) In nomination for the Party offices at least 35% shall be allocated to women.

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

8. Aims

To sustain, promote and implement within the nation the manifesto and the values of the Green Party of Nigeria (GPN), subject to the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999 (as amended).

9. Objectives

The Green Party of Nigeria:

a) Exists to champion and protect the freedom, dignity and well-being of all individuals. In particular to champion the rights of all

vulnerable people in the society (Women, Children, Youths, People with disability and minority groups).

- b) Shall strive to build and safeguard a fair, free and open society, through which there will be a balance between the fundamental values of liberty, equality and community, and in which no one shall be enslaved by poverty, ignorance or any form of neglect.
- c) Envisages a world in which all people share the same rights, in which they live together in peace and in which their different culture will be able to develop freely. The GPN therefore, rejects all prejudices and opposes all forms of entrenched privilege and inequality.
- d) Recognises that the quest for freedom and justice can never end and so shall promote human rights and open government, a sustainable economy which serves genuine need, public services of the highest quality, international action based on recognition of the interdependence of all the world's people and responsible stewardship of the earth and its resources.
- e) Believes that people shall be involved in running their communities. We are determined to strengthen the process and ensure that there is a just and representatives system of government with effective National Assembly institutions, freedom of information, decisions taken at the lowest practicable level and a fair voting system for all election.
- f) Shall at all times defend the right to speak, write, worship, associate and vote freely, and we will protect the right of citizens to enjoy privacy in their own lives and homes. GPN believes that sovereignty rests with the people and authority in a democracy is derived from the people. The Party therefore acknowledges their right to determine the form of government best suited to their needs and commit ourselves to the promotion of a democratic national framework within which as much power as feasible is exercised by the States and Local Government Areas of Nigeria.
- g) Shall foster a strong and sustainable economy which encourages the necessary wealth creating processes, develop and use the skills of the people and work to the benefit of all, with a just distribution of the rewards of success. The GPN wants to see democracy,

participation and co-operative principle in industry, agriculture and commerce within a competitive environment in which the state allows the market to operate freely where possible but intervene where necessary.

- h) Shall promote scientific research and innovation especially in agricultural development and harness technological changes to human advantage.
- i) Seeks to make the public services responsive and responsible to the people they serve, to encourage variety and innovation within them and to make them available on equal terms to all.
- j) Will ensure that The Party's responsibility for justice and liberty cannot be confined by the national boundaries; we are committed to fight poverty, corruption, oppression, hunger, ignorance, diseases, aggression and other social vices wherever they occur and to promote the free movement of ideas, people, goods and services.
- k) Affirms the values of federalism and integration and work for unity based on these principles. We will contribute to the process of peace and the elimination of world poverty and collectively safeguard democracy by playing a full and constructive role in international organization which share similar aims and objectives. These are the condition of liberty and social justice which is the responsibility of each citizen and the duty of the state to protect and enlarge.
- I) Uphold the integrity and sovereignty of the Federal Republic of Nigeria as one united indivisible political entity.
- m) Promote national integration and the peaceful co-existence of the diverse communities of our country.
- n) Promote an egalitarian society founded on freedom, equality and justice.
- O) Uphold the independence of the judiciary and the Fundamental Rights enshrined in the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999 (as amended).

- p) Advance the political, social, educational and economic interest of its members and act as the channel of communication between,the government and other political parties or associations.
- 10. The Party shall pursue these objectives by:
 - a. Promoting mutual respect for and understanding of the religious and cultural diversity of Nigeria.
 - b. Adhering to the policy of the rotation and zoning of Party and public elective and non elective offices pursuant to the principle of equality, justice, and fairness.
 - c. Co-operating with member Nations in promoting the aims of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), the African Union (AU), the Commonwealth of Nations, the United Nations Organizations (UNO) and other international and regional bodies.
 - d. Undertaking such other activities as, (in the opinion of the Party) may promote the attainment of the stated aims and objectives.

PART 2

11. MEMBERSHIP

- 1. Membership of the Party shall be open to all Nigerians, from the age of 18 years and above, and who undertake to abide by the constitution of the Party.
- 2. The Party shall comprises:
 - a. Individuals (referred to in this constitution as "Party Members")
 - b. Local Chapters (State, Senatorial Zone, Local Government Area, Ward, Overseas branches), whose members shall also comprise of Party members.
 - c. Women, people with disabilities, Youth Wings whose members shall only comprise Party Members, other than expressly provided by the Party (being other organizations recognized by the Party).

- 3. A prospective member shall:
 - a. Register at his or her ward of origin or where he or she ordinarily resides or carries on business; and
 - b. Pay the prescribed registration and other fees beforeadmission into the Party.
- 4. It shall be the duty of each Ward Management Committee to canvass, recruit and register eligible voters residing within its Local Government Constituency or Ward as members of the Party.
- 5. Application of membership shall be considered by the Ward Management Committee, which shall have power to accept or reject any application.

Provided that any rejection shall be subject to review by the next higher organ of the Party.

- 6. A membership card shall be issued to a registered member of the Party.
- 7. Membership of GPN is not compatible with membership of/or associating with any other registered political Party.

PART 3

12. CODE OF CONDUCT

- 1. A Party member shall
 - a. Belong to and take active part in the activities of his ward.
 - b. Take all necessary steps to understand, propagate and execute the aims and objectives of the Party.
 - c. Endeavour to acquaint him/herself with the social, cultural, political and economic issues of the country.
 - d. Combat any propaganda detrimental to the Party and defend the policies and programmes of the Party at his level.
 - e. Oppose ethnicity, religious and political intolerance or any other form of discrimination.
 - f. Observe discipline, behave honestly and carry out loyally all decisions of the majority and decisions of the higher organs of the Party
 - g. Refrain from publishing or distributing to the public, any article which purports to be the view of any faction or tendency within the Party.
 - h. Ensure that he is registered as a voter in the constituency where he resides.
 - i.Pay such fees, levies and dues as may be prescribed from time to time by the National Convention or by any other organ of the Party authorized to do so.
 - j.Subject to the provision of this constitution, be eligible to vote and be voted for at Party meetings or elections.
 - k. Be loyal to the Party and not to do anything that is inconsistent with the provisions of this constitution.

- 2. No member of the Party at any level shall divulge the proceedings and decisions of the Party unless expressly authorized.
- 3. All public officers elected or appointed on the platform of the Party shall be guided by the constitution, manifesto, rules and decisions of the Party.
- 4. No member of the Party shall bring to public attention disagreements and conflicts within the Party.
- 5. No member of the Party shall publicly make baseless comments against the policies of any government elected on the platform of the Party.
- 6. No member of the Party shall align with other parties or groups to undermine the Party or any of its elected governments.
- 7. No member of the Party shall engage in violent conduct or acts capable of inciting violence at any of its gathering.

PART 4

13. ORGANIZATION AND ADMINISTRATION

1. The Party shall be organized and administered at the following levels:

- a) Ward
- b) Local Government Area (LGA)
- c) Senatorial District
- d) State
- e) Zonal
- f) National

2. For the purpose of general elections, there shall be informal units for mobilization of voters, such as:

- a. The State House of Assembly Constituency
- b. The Federal Constituency; and
- c. The Senatorial Constituency

3. There shall be a Party secretariat at all level of the Party

4. For the purpose of the organization of the Party, the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja shall be deemed to be a State.

14. ORGANS OF THE PARTY

The organs of the Party shall consist of the following-

- a. Ward management committee
- b. Ward Congress
- c. Local Government Management Committee
- d. Local Government Consultative Committee
- e. Local Government Elders Committee
- f. Local Government Area Congress
- g. Senatorial District Management Committee
- h. Senatorial District Consultative Committee
- i. Senatorial District Elders Committee
- j. Senatorial District Congress
- k. State Management Committee
- I. State Caucus

- m. State Consultative Committee
- n. State Elders Committee
- o. State Congress
- p. Zonal Management Committee
- q. Zonal Consultative Committee
- r. Zonal Congress
- s. National Management Committee
- t. National ConsultativeCommittee
- u. National Elders Committee
- v. National Caucus
- w. National Convention

15. WARD MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A. ESTABLISHMENT AND COMPOSITION

- 1. Ward Committee shall consist of
 - a. The Chairman
 - b. The Vice Chairman
 - c. Elected Councilor of the Ward who is a member of the Party
 - d. The Secretary
 - e. The Assistant Secretary
 - f. The Treasurer
 - g. The Financial Secretary
 - h. The Organizing Secretary
 - i. The Publicity Secretary
 - j. The legal adviser
 - k. The auditor
 - I. The Youth Leader
 - m. The Assistant Youth Leader
 - n. The Women Leader
 - o. The Assistant Women Leader
 - p. The Physically Challenged Leader
 - q. The Assistant Physically Challenged Leader
 - r. One person (Male/Female) from each polling unit within the ward
 - s. Members of the National, Zonal, State and Local Government Management Committees of the Party from the ward

- t. Member(s) of the State Consultative Committee and National Elders Committee from the Ward
- u. Members of the State and National Assemblies from the ward who are members of the Party
- v. Political office holders from the Ward who are members of the Party, that is
 - i. President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - ii. The Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - iii. Governor of the State
- iv. Deputy Governor of the State
- v. Ministers of the Federal Republic
- vi. Ambassadors
- vii. State Commissioners.

16. FUNCTIONS

The function of the Ward Management Committee shall be-

- a. Administration of the Party at Ward level
- b. Raising funds for the Party
- c. Membership derive for the Party
- d. Drawing up strategies for political campaigns for the Party
- e. Mobilizing voters for the Party
- f. Implement the decisions of the Ward Congress and other organs of the Party
- g. Receiving the Ward auditor's report
- h. Perform such other functions as may be in the interest of the Party, and as may, from time to time, be assigned to it by higher organs of the Party.

17. MEETINGS

- a. The Ward Management Committee shall meet at least once a month.
- b. Meetings of the Ward Management Committee shall be summoned by the Ward chairman.
- c. An extra-ordinary meeting of the Ward Management Committee shall be held if requested by at least two-third of the members of the Ward Management Committee or if requested by one-third

of the registered members of the Ward and such meeting shall be held within seven days of the request.

d. The quorum at Ward Management Committee meeting shall be one-third (1/3) of its membership and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

18. WARD CONGRESS

- 1. There shall be a Ward Congress which shall consist of all elected, political office holders and registered members of the Party.
- 2. The functions of the Ward Congress shall be to
 - a. Receive reports of officers of the Ward
 - b. Receive Auditors reports
 - c. Approve the budget of the Ward
 - d. Elect members of the Ward Management Committee
 - e. Elect Ward delegates of the Partyat the Congress
 - f. Conduct primaries of the Ward elections
 - g. Carry out such other functions as maybe in the interest of the Party
- 3. The Ward Congress shall be summoned by the Chairman of the Ward Management Committee at least once a year.
- 4. The quorum of the Ward Congress shall be one-third of the registered members of the Ward and a simple majority shall pass any motion.
- 5. A special Ward Congress shall hold if requested by two-third of the members of the Ward Congress and such Congress shall hold within seven days of the request.

19. LOCAL GOVERNMENTMANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ESTABLISHMENT AND COMPOSITION

1. There shall be a Local Government Management Committee whichshall consist of:

- a. The Chairman
- b. The Vice Chairman
- c. All Ward Chairmen
- d. The elected Local Government Chairman and Vice Chairman who are members of the Party
- e. The Secretary
- f. The Assistant Secretary
- g. The Treasurer
- h. The Assistant Treasurer
- i. The Financial Secretary

- j. The Assistant Financial Secretary
- k. The Publicity Secretary
- I. The Assistant Publicity Secretary
- m. The Organizing Secretary
- n. The Assistant Organizing Secretary
- o. The Auditor
- p. The Legal Adviser
- q. The Youth Leader
- r. The Assistant Youth Leader
- s. The Women Leader
- t. The Assistant Women Leader
- u. The Physically Challenged Leader
- v. The Assistant Physically Challenged Leader
- w. One person (Male/Female) from each Ward of the Local Government
- x. Members of National, Zonal and States Management Committees
- y. Members of the National Elders Committee from the Local Government Area.
- z. Members of the National and State Assemblies from the Local Government Area who are members of the Party.Political office holders from the Ward who are members of the Partythat is
 - i. President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - ii. The Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - iii. Governor of the State
 - iv. Deputy Governor of the State
 - v. Ministers of the Federal Republic
 - vi. Ambassador
 - vii. State Commissioners

20. FUNCTIONS

The functions of the Local Government Area Committee shall be to-

- (a) Identify and resolve political, social and economic issues of concern to the Local Government Area;
- (b) Receive and implement reports from the wards on:
 - i. Membership
 - ii. Fund raising
 - iii. Strategies for political campaigns and electoral success, and
 - iv. Mobilization of voters;

- (c) Provide strategies for effective communication between the Wards and the local government area;
- (d) Undertake general administration of the Party in the local government area;
- (e) Implement the decisions of the Local government Congress and other higher organs of the Party; and
- (f) Employ all Secretarial staff for the Local Government branch of the Party.

21. MEETING

- a. The Local Government Area Management Committee shall meet not less than twice a month.
- b. The meetings shall be summoned by the chairman.
- c. An extra-ordinary meeting of the Local Government Area Management Committee shall be held if requested by two-third of the members of the Local Government Area Management Committee and such a meeting shall be held within seven days of the request.
- d. The quorum of the Local Government Area Management Committee shall be one-third of the Wards in the Local Government Area and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

22. THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

ESTABLISHMENT AND COMPOSITION

There shall be a Local Government Area Consultative Committee for the Party in each LGA and Area Council of the Federation which shall consist of the following members-

(a) The Local Government Area Chairman of the Party, who shall be theChairman;

- (b) The Local Government Area Secretary, Treasurer, Women and Youth Leaders;
- (c) National, Zonal, State and Senatorial District Management Committee members of the Party from each Local Government Area;
- (d) National Assembly members from the Local Government Area;
- (e) Members of the National Advisory Committee from the Local Government Area;
- (f) Political office holders from the Local Government Area;
- (g) All former National Assembly members from the Local Government Area who are still members of the Party;
- (h) The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary of the Local Government Council and three supervisory Councilors selected by the Chairman, who are members of the Party;
- (i) Five elders of the Party in the Local Government Area, two of whom shall be women chosen by the Committee.

23. FUNCTIONS

The Local Government Area Consultative Committee shall consider urgent and important issues affecting the politics and the economy of the Local Government Area of the State.

24. MEETINGS

a. The Local Government Area Consultative Committee shall meet not less than twice in a year.

- b. The extra-ordinary meeting of the Local Government AreaCommittee shall be held if requested for by two third of the members and such a meeting shall be held within seven days of the request.
- c .The quorum of the Local Government Area Committee shall be one third of the members of the Committee and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

25. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA CONGRESS

Establishment and Composition

- There shall be a Local Government Area Congress which shall consist of-
- a. The Local Government Chairman of the Party and other members of the Local Government Area Management Committee;
- b. All the National, Zonal and State Management Committee members of the Party from the Local Government Area;
- c. The elected Local Government Council Chairman, Vice Chairman and Councilors, who are members of the Party;
- d. All members of the National and State House of Assembly from the Local Government Area, who are members of the Party;
- e. Members of the National Elders Committees from the Local Government Area;
- f. All Chairmen and Secretaries of the Ward Management Committees from the Local Government Area;
- g. Three delegates from each Ward of the Local Government Area elected at the Ward Congress, at least one of whom shall be a woman, all of whom shall cease to function at the conclusion of congress for which they were elected;
- h. Political office holders from the Local Government Area, who are members of the Party, that is:
 - 1. The President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - 2. The Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - 3. Governor of the State
 - 4. Deputy Governor of the State
 - 5. Ministers of the Federal Republic of Nigeria
 - 6. Ambassadors
 - 7. State Commissioners

- i. Former holders of the following offices elected on the platform of the Party, who are still members of the Party-
- (a) President or Vice President.
- (b) Governors or Deputy Governors
- (c) National Assembly members
- (d) Speaker and Deputy Speaker of the State Assembly.
- (e) Elected National Management Committee members.
- (f) Local Government Party Chairmen, and Secretaries.
- (g) Local Government Council Chairmen and Vice Chairmen
- (h) Leaders of Council (Speakers) elected on the platform of the Party.

26. FUNCTIONS

The functions of the Local Government Area Congress shall be to-

- a. Elect members to the Local Government Management Committee of theParty;
- b. Elect Local Government Council Chairmanship Candidates of theParty;
- c. Elect Local Government Party delegates to the National Convention;
- d. Approve the budget of the Party at the Local Government level; and
- e. Receive the Local Government Auditor's Report.

27. MEETINGS

- a. The meetings of the Local Government Area Congress shall be heldnot less than once a year.
- b. The Chairman of the Local Government Committee shall summon the Local Government Area Congress.

- c. An extra-ordinary Local Government Area Congress shall hold if requested for by at least two-third of the Chairmen of the Wards constituting the Local Government Area.
- d. The quorum for the Local Government Area Congress shall be one-third of the delegates to the Congress; provided that not less than two-third of all the wards in the Local Government Area are represented, and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

PART 5

SENATORIAL DISTRICT

28. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Establishment and Composition

There shall be a Senatorial District Management Committee which shall consist of-

- a. The State Vice Chairman from the Senatorial District, who shall be the Chairman.
- b. The State Assistant Secretary from the Senatorial District who shall be the Secretary of the Committee.
- c. The State Governor or Deputy Governor, who are members of theParty from the Senatorial District.
- d. Members of the Board of the National Advisory Committee from the Senatorial District.
- e. Members of the National, Zonal and State Management Committees of the Party from the Senatorial District.
- f. Local Government AreaParty Chairmen, Secretaries and Treasurers from the Senatorial District.
- g. Elected Local Government Council Chairmen and Vice Chairmen from the Senatorial District, who are members of the Party;
- h. The Senatorial District Women Leader and Assistant Women Leader elected by the Senatorial District Management Committee.
- i. The Senatorial District Youth Leader and Assistant Youth Leader elected by the Senatorial District Management committee.
- j. The Senatorial District Physically Challenged Leader and Assistant Physically Challenged Leader elected by the Senatorial District ManagementCommittee.

- k. Two persons (Male/Female) elected by the Senatorial District Management Committee from each Local Government Area of the Senatorial District.
- I. Members of the National and State Houses of Assembly from the Senatorial District, who are members of the Party; and
- m. Elected Local Government Council Councilors from the Senatorial District who are members of the Party.

29. FUNCTIONS

(2) The functions of the Senatorial District Management Committee shall be to:

- (a) Identify and resolve social, political and economic issues of concern to the Senatorial District.
- (b) Co-ordinate the policies, programmes and operations of the Party within the Senatorial District;
- (c) Liaise with the Local Government Areas within the Senatorial district and State Headquarters.
- (d) Undertake general administration of the party in the Senatorial District and implement the decisions of the Senatorial District Management Committee;
- (e) Prepare the annual budget of the Party in the Senatorial District; and
- (f) Receive the Senatorial District Auditor's report.

30. MEETINGS

- a. The Senatorial District Management Committee shall meet monthly and report to the State Consultative Committee prior to the State Management Committee meeting.
- b. The Assistant State Secretary from the Senatorial District shall be the Secretary of the Senatorial District Management Committee, while the Assistant State Organizing Secretary from the Senatorial District shall be the Senatorial District Organizing Secretary.

c. The quorum of the Senatorial District Management Committee shall be one-third of the members of the Committee drawn from at least two-third of the Local Government Areas in the Senatorial District and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

PART 6

31.

STATE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Establishment and Composition

There shall be a State Management Committee which shall consist of-

- (a) The State Chairman
- (b) The State Deputy Chairman
- (c) The State Secretary
- (d) The State Treasurer
- (e) The State Legal Adviser who shall be a legal practitioner
- (f) The State Financial Secretary
- (g) The State Publicity Secretary
- (h) State Auditor
- (i) The State Organizing Secretary
- (j) The State Women Leader
- (k) The State Youth Leader
- (I) State Physically Challenged Leader
- (m) The State Vice Chairmen

32. FUNCTIONS

- (2) The State Management Committee shall:
 - a. Undertake the day-to-day administration of the Party in the State and shall be responsible to the State Consultative Committee; and
 - b. Perform such other functions as may be assigned to it by the State Consultative Committee.

33. MEETINGS

- (3) The State Management Committee shall meet not less than twice a month at the instance of the Chairman.
- (4) An extraordinary meeting of the State Management Committee shall be held if requested by two-third of the members of the Committee, and such a meeting shall be held within seven days of the request.
- (5) The quorum of the State Management Committee shall be onethird of the members of the Committee drawn from the three Senatorial Districts in the State and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

STATE CAUCUS

Establishment and Composition

- 19. (1) There shall be a State Party Caucus in each state of the Federation which shall consist of the following members-
 - (a) The State Chairman of the Party, shall be the Leader of the Caucus.
 - (b) The State Deputy Chairman.
 - (c) The President and Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, from the State who are members of the Party;
 - (d) The State Governor and Deputy Governor, who are members of theParty;
 - (e) Members of the National Assembly, who are members of the Party from the State;
 - (f) The Speaker, Deputy Speaker, Party Leader and Party Chief Whip andDeputy Chief Whip in the State House of Assembly, who are members of the Party;
 - (g) Members of the National and Zonal Management Committee of theParty from the State;
 - (h) The State Party Secretary and the State Party Treasurer;
 - (i) The State Party Legal Adviser;
 - (j) The State Party Women Leader;
 - (k) The State Party Youth Leader;
 - (I) The State Party Physically Challenged leader
 - (m) Federal Ministers, who are members of the Party from the State;
 - (n) The Secretary to the Government of the Federation and the Secretary to the Government of the State, who are members of the Party;
 - (o) Special Advisers to the President of the Federal Republic, from the State who are members of the Party;

34.

- (p) Three Commissioners, from the State who are members of the Party nominated by the Governor, one of whom shall be Attorney General of the State;
- (q) Former State Chairmen and State Secretaries who are still members of the Party; and
- (r) Former members of the National Assembly, who are still members of the Party from the State.

35. FUNCTIONS

(2) The State Caucus shall meet from time to time, to consider urgent and important issues affecting the Party, the State or the Nation.

36. MEETINGS

- (3) The State Caucus shall meet not less than once every quarter, at the instance of the Chairman.
- (4) An extraordinary meeting of the State Caucus shall be held if requested for by two-third of the member of the Caucus and such meeting shall be held within seven days of the request.
- (5) The quorum of the State Caucus meeting shall be one-third of the members of the Caucus drawn from the three Senatorial Districts of the State and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

STATE CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

Establishment and Composition

37.

- (1) There shall be a State Consultative Committee which shall consist of
 - (a) The State Chairman, who shall be the Chairman;
 - (b) The President or Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, from the State if members of the Party;
 - (c) The State Governor and Deputy Governor if members of the Party;
 - (d) Members of the National Assembly from the State who are members of the Party;
 - (e) The Speaker, Deputy Speaker, House Leader and Chief Whip in the State House of Assembly, if members of the Party;
 - (f) All National and Zonal Management Committee members of the Party from the State;

(g) Members of the National Elders Committee from the State;

- (h) The State Deputy Chairman;
- (i) The three State Vice Chairmen;
- (j) The State Secretary;
- (k) Three State Assistant Secretaries (One from each of the three Senatorial District);
- (I) The State Treasurer;
- (m) The State Assistant Treasurer
- (n) The State Organizing Secretary;
- (o) The State Assistant Organizing Secretary;
- (p) The State Financial Secretary;
- (q) The State Assistant Financial Secretary
- (r) The State Publicity Secretary;
- (s) The State Assistant Publicity Secretary;

- (†) The State Legal Adviser;
- (u) The State Assistant Legal Adviser;
- (v) The State Auditor;
- (w) The State Assistant Auditor;
- (x) The State Women Leader;
- (y) The State Assistant Women Leader;
- (z) The State Youth Leader;

The State Assistant Youth Leader;

The State Physically Challenged leader;

The State Assistant Physically Challenged leader;

Five persons (Male/Female) from each of the Senatorial Districts of the State.

38. FUNCTIONS

- (2) The function of the State Consultative Committee Shall be to -
- (a) Identify and resolve political, social and economic issues of concern to the State;
- (b) Undertake general administration of the Party in the State and implement the decisions of the State Congress, and the directives of the National Consultative Committee, the National Management Committee and the National Convention; and
- (c) Prepare the annual budget of the State Branch of the Party.

39. MEETINGS

- (3) The State Consultative Committee shall meet at the instance of the Chairman not less than once every quarter.
- (4) An extra-ordinary meeting of the State Consultative Committee shall be held if requested for, by two-third of the members of the State Consultative Committee.
- (5) The quorum for the State Consultative Committee meeting shall be one-third of the members of the Committee drawn from the three Senatorial District of the State and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

STATE PARTY CONGRESS

Establishment and Composition

- (1) There shall be a State Party Congress which shall consist of-
 - (a) The State Chairman, who shall be the Chairman.
 - (b) The President or Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, who are members of the Party from the State;
 - (c) The State Governor and Deputy Governor of the State, if members of the Party;
 - (d) The Gubernatorial Candidates of the Party;
 - (e) Members of the National Elders Committees from the State;
 - (f) The members of the State Consultative Committee;
 - (g) Members of the National and Zonal Management Committees from the State;
 - (h) The members of the National Assembly from the State and the members of the State House of Assembly, who are members of the Party;
 - (i) All elected Local Government Council Chairmen and Vice Chairmen who are members of the Party;
 - (j) All Local Government Party Secretaries and Treasurers;
 - (k) All Local Government Women, Youth and physically challenged Leaders;
 - (I) Three delegates per ward elected by ward Congress at least one of whom shall be a woman, and all of whom shall cease to function after conclusion of the Congress for which they were elected;
 - (m) Former members of the State Working Committee who are still members of the Party;
 - (n) Former Governors and Deputy Governors produced by the Party who are still members of the Party; and
 - (o) Former Speakers and Deputy Speakers of the State House of Assembly produced by the Party who are still members of the Party.

40.

41. FUNCTIONS

- (2) The functions of the State Congress shall be to -
 - (a) Approve the budget of the State Branch of the Party;
 - (b) Elect officers of the State Consultative Committee;
 - (c) Elect governorship candidate of the Party;
 - (d) Receive report from officers of the Party; and
 - (e) Receive State Party Auditor's report.

42. MEETINGS

- (3) The State Congress shall meet once every two years on a date and at a venue to be determine by the State Consultative Committee provided that the State Congress shall be held before the National Convention.
- (4) The quorum for the State Congress shall be two-third of the members drawn from the three Senatorial District of the State and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

43. STATE ASSEMBLY CONGRESS

- (5) (a) There shall be a State Assembly Congress, which shall be constituted by all delegates to the State Congress from the State Assembly Constituency and other members of the Local Government Management Committee from the State Assembly Constituency who are not delegates to the State Congress.
 - (b) The functions of the State Assembly Congress shall be to elect State House of Assembly candidate of the Party.

44. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES CONGRESS

- (6) (a) There shall be the congress for the House of Representatives, which shall be constituted by all delegates to the State Congress from the Federal Constituency.
 - (b) The functions of the House of Representative Congress shall be to elect the House of Representative candidate of the Party.

45. SENTORIAL DISTRICT CONGRESS

- (7) (a) There shall be the Senatorial District Congress which shall be constituted by the delegates to the State Congress from the Senatorial District.
 - (b) The functions of the Senatorial District Congress shall be to elect the Senatorial Candidate of the Party.

PART 7

ZONAL LEVEL

ZONAL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

46. Establishment and Composition

(1) There shall be a Zonal Management Committee which shall consist of-

(a) The National Vice Chairman from the Zone, who shall be the Chairman;

- (b) The Zonal Secretary;
- (c) The Zonal Treasurer;
- (d) The Zonal Financial Secretary;
- (e) The Zonal Organizing Secretary;
- (f) The Zonal Legal Adviser; who shall be a legal practitioner;
- (g) The Zonal Publicity Secretary;
- (h) The Zonal Auditor;
- (i) The Zonal Women Leader;
- (j) The Zonal Youth Leader;
- (k) The Zonal Physically Challenged Leader.

47. FUNCTIONS

(2) The Zonal Management Committee shall:

- (a) Undertake the administration of the Party at the Zonal level and shall be responsible to the Zonal Consultative Committee;
- (b) Liaise with the National Secretariat and the State Chapters in the zone;
- (c) Prepare and submit reports for the consideration of the Zonal Consultative Committee; and
- (d) Perform such other functions as may be assigned by the National Management Committee.

48. MEETINGS

(3) The Zonal Management Committee shall meet not less than once every fortnight, and its quorum shall be two-third of its membership drawn from at least two-third of the States in the Zone and a simple majority shall pass any motion of the Zonal Management Committee.

ZONAL CONGRESS

49. Establishment and Composition

- (1) There shall be a Zonal Congress to consist of the following members from all the states in the Zone-
- (a) All members of the Zonal Management Committee;
- (b) The Zonal Consultative Committee;
- (c) The States Consultative Committee;
- (d) All former members of the Zonal Working Committee who are still members of the Party; and
- (e) All delegates to the National Convention from all the States in the zone.

50. Functions

- (2) The functions of the Zonal Congress shall be to-
 - (a) Approve the budget of the Party in the zone;
 - (b) Elect officers of the Zonal management Committee;
 - (c) Receive the reports of officers of the Party in the zone; and

(d) Receive the Zonal Auditor's report.

51. Meetings

- (3) The Zonal Congress shall meet every two years at the instance of the National Vice Chairman from the Zone.
- (4) An extra-ordinary meeting of the Zonal Congress shall be held if requested for, by at least two-third of the members of the State Consultative Committees.
- (5) The quorum of the Zonal Congress Meeting shall be two-third of the members of the States in the Zone and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

PART 8

NATIONAL LEVEL NATIONAL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

52. Establishment and Composition

(1) There shall be a National management Committee of the Party which shall consist of:

- (a) The National Chairman;
- (b) The Deputy National Chairman;
- (c) The National Secretary;
- (d) The Deputy National Secretary;
- (e) The National Treasurer;
- (f) The National Financial Secretary;
- (g) The National Organizing Secretary;
- (h) The National Publicity Secretary;
- (i) The National Auditor;
- (j) The National Legal Adviser;
- (k) The National Women Leader;
- (I) The National Youth Leader; and
- (m) The National Physically Challenged Leader

53. Functions

- (2) The National management Committee shall-
 - (a) Be responsible for the day to day administration of the Party and shall be responsible to the National consultative Committee;
 - (b) In case of emergency, act on behalf of the National consultative Committee subject to ratification by the saidCommittee; and
 - (c) Perform such other functions as may be assigned to it by the National consultative Committee.

54. Meetings

- (3) The National management Committee shall meet not less than once every fortnight at the instance of the Chairman or at the instance of two-third of the members.
- (4) The quorum of the National management Committee be twothird of the membership drawn from at least two-third of the Zones in the country and a simple majority shall pass any motion.
- (5) The National Vice Chairmen shall attend the meetings of the National managementCommittee at least once in two months to brief it on the operations of the zones.

NATIONAL CAUCUS

55. Establishment and Composition

(1) There shall be a National Caucus of the Party which shall consist of:

- (a) The National Chairman, who shall be the Chairman;
- (b) The President and Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, who are members of the Party;
- (c) The Senate President and Deputy Senate President, the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Chief Whip and Deputy Chief Whip in the Senate, who are members of the Party;

- (d) The Speaker and Deputy Speaker, the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Chief Whip and Deputy Chief Whip in the House of Representatives, who are members of the Party;
- (e) Six (6) Governors who are members of the Party nominated by the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria bearing in mind the need for spread;
- (f) The Chairman and Secretary of the National Elders Committees and one member drawn from each of the six geo-political zones;
- (g) The Deputy National Chairman;
- (h) The National Secretary of the Party, who shall be the Secretary of the National Caucus;
- (i) The National Legal Adviser and the National Treasurer;
- (j) The National Women Leader, the National Youth Leader and the National Physically Challenged Leader;
- (k) Three Federal Ministers, who are members of the Party, nominated by the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria one of whom shall be the Attorney General of the Federation;
- (I) The Secretary to the Government of the Federation, if a member of the Party; and
- (m) The National Security Adviser, if a member of the Party.

56. Functions

- (2) The National Caucus shall-
 - (a) Harmonize the relationship between the Executive and Legislative arms of government and coordinate their activities and those of the Party; and
 - (b) Consider, review and advise on policies and programmes of government.

57. Meetings

(3) The National Chairman shall, in consultation with the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, if produced by the Party, summon the meeting of the National Caucus, to consider important issues affecting the Party and the nation.

- (4) An extra-ordinary meeting of the National Caucus shall be held if requested for, by two-third of the members of the Caucus and a simple majority shall pass any motion.
- (5) The quorum of the National Caucus shall be two-third of its membership.

NATIONAL CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

58. Establishment and Composition

- (1) There shall be a National Consultative Committee of the Party which shall consist of:
 - (a) The National Chairman, who shall be the chairman;
 - (b) The President and Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, if members of the Party;
 - (c) Chairman and Secretary National Elders Committees;
 - (d) All other members of National Elders Committees who shall have no voting rights;
 - (e) The President of the Senate, the Deputy President of the Senate, the Senate Leader and Deputy Senate Leader, Chief Whip and Deputy Chief Whip, two Senators from each of the geo-political zones who are members of the Party;
 - (f) The Speaker, Deputy Speaker, the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Chief Whip and Deputy Chief Whip in the House of Representatives, three members from the House of Representatives from each geo-political zone, who are members of the Party;
 - (g) All the State Governors, who are members of the Party;
 - (h) Two Deputy National Chairmen;
 - (i) The National Vice Chairmen;
 - (j) The National Secretary and the Deputy National Secretary;
 - (k) The National Treasurer and the Deputy National Treasurer;

- (I) The National Financial Secretary and the Deputy National Financial Secretary;
- (m) The National Organizing Secretary and the Deputy National Organizing Secretary;
- (n) The National Publicity Secretary and the Deputy National Publicity Secretary.

(o) The National Legal Adviser and the Deputy National Legal Adviser.

- (p) The National Auditor and the Deputy National Auditor.
- (q) The National Women Leader and the Deputy National Women Leader.

(r) The National Youth Leader and the Deputy National Youth Leader;

- (s) The National Physically Challenged Leader and the Deputy National Physically Challenged Leader.
- (t) Six ex-officio members, at least two of whom shall be women, elected from each of the six geo-political zones;
- (u) Six persons (Male/Female) elected from each of the six geopolitical zones; and
- (v) All former National Chairmen, Deputy National Chairmen, National Secretaries, Chairmen and Secretaries of National Elders Committees, who are still members of the Party.

59. Functions

- (2) The National Consultative Committee shall-
 - (a) Convene the National Convention and appoint a Convention Organizing Committee which shall circulate Convention information in advance and ensure that the concerns of the membership are reflected on the Agenda;
 - (b) Carry out the decisions and instructions of the National Convention;
 - (c) Supervise and direct the work of the Party and all its organs including the National, Zonal, State and Local Government organs;

- (d) Ensure that all the organs of the Party function democratically and effectively;
- (e) Where necessary, dissolve a State Management Committee and appoint a Care-Taker Committee to run the Party until another Management Committee is elected, provided that the period from the dissolution to the election of the new Management Committee shall not exceed 3 months;
- (f) Prepare reports and budgets for approval by the National Convention;
- (g) Initiate policies and programmes for approval by the National Convention;
- (h) Consider appeals and other matters referred to it by the zones or states of the Federation;
- (i) Make rules for Party discipline which shall be binding on all organs and members of the Party;
- Subject to the provisions of this constitution, make Party electoral regulations to govern the conduct of elections to all Party offices at every level and regulate procedure for selecting the Party candidates for elective offices;
- (k) Ratify the conditions of service of the employees of the Party in accordance with the Establishment Manual;

(I) Make standing orders for approval by the National Convention;

- (m) Deal with any other matters referred to it by the National Convention or the National Elders Committees;
- (n) Establish departments and set up ad-hoc or standing committees of the Party;
- (o) Manage and control all the assets and properties of the Party wherever they may be;
- (p) In consultation with the National Elders Committees, appoint eminent Party leaders to the position of member Emeritus and persons so appointed shall have the right to attend all the meetings of the organs of the Party;
- (q) Examine the actions, policies, programmes and legislations proposed by the Federal or State governments produced

by the Party and take measures to ensure that they are in accordance with the principles, policies, programmes, objectives and manifesto of the Party and make necessary recommendations or take any appropriate actions;

- (r) Raise adequate funds for the Management and sustenance of the Party;
- (s) Approve the minimum rates of annual subscription and other levies payable by members of the Party;
- (t) Confer such honours as may aid the realization of the objectives of the Party;
- (u) Appoint members of the staff of the National Party Headquarters;
- (v) After appropriate consultations and subject to ratification by the National Convention, shall make and from time to time vary rules as to membership, criteria for Special Interest Groups status and for the regular review of bodies holding such status, elections and such other matters as it may consider necessary or desirable to give effect to or supplement the provisions for Political Parties Elections and Referendums.

60. Meetings

- (4) The National Consultative Committee shall meet at least once in every quarter at the instance of the National Chairman or at the request of two-third of its membership, who shall notify the Chairman at least seven days prior to the meeting; and an emergency meeting be summoned by the National Chairman having regard to all the circumstances of the agenda.
- (5) The quorum of the National Consultative Committee shall be twothird of the membership drawn from at least two-third of the Zones in the Federation, and a simple majority shall pass any motion.

NATIONAL ELDERS COMMITTEE

61. Establishment and Composition

- (1) There shall be a National Elders Committees of the Party (NEC) which shall consist of-
 - (a) All past and serving Presidents and Vice Presidents of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, who held or hold the respective posts as members of the Party and who are still members of the Party;
 - (b) All Past and serving National Chairmen, Deputy National Chairmen and National Secretaries of the Party, who are still members of the Party;
 - All past and serving Presidents of the Senate and Speakers of the House of Representatives who are still members of the Party;
 - (d) Five members (Male/Female) selected from each of the six geo-political zones by the National Caucus
 - (e) Persons not exceeding six, who have contributed immensely to the growth of the Party and found suitable by the National Caucus.

Election and Tenure of Officers and Members

- (2) The National Elders Committees shall-
 - (a) Elect a Chairman and a Secretary from its members who shall also be members of the National Consultative Committee;
 - (b) Without prejudice to the provision of this Constitution, ensure that the person to be elected Chairman and Secretary respectively are of proven integrity and have contributed immensely to the growth of the Party.

(c) Ensure that the Chairman and Secretary of the National Elders Committee shall, subject to Subsection (7) and (8) of this Section, serve a term of five years and no more.

Qualification for Membership

- (3) A person shall qualify for membership into the National Elders Committee if he or she-
 - (a) Is a registered card carrying member of the Party for not less than four years consecutively;
- (b) Has been paying his annual subscription fees as at when due;
 - (c) Has attained the age of fifty years; and
 - (d) A person of integrity.
- (4) Without prejudice to the provisions of Subsection (7) & (8) of this section, all members of the National Elders Committees specified in subsection (1) (e) – (g) shall serve a term of five years and no more.

62. Functions

(5) The National Elders Committees shall subject to the provision of this ` constitution-

- (a) Ensure highest standards of morality in all the activities of the Party by acting as the conscience of the Party, with power to call to order any officer of the Party whose conduct falls below the norms;
- (b) Ensure high morale of members of the Party and that the Party enjoys a good image before the Nigerian populace and is in good political health;
- (c) Harmonize, co-ordinate, review and advice on policies, programmes and activities of the Party at the national level;

(d) Co-ordinate the sourcing of Party funds at the National level;

- (e) Be vested with the assets of the Party and shall serve as custodians of such assets;
- (f) Mediate in disputes between the Executive and Legislative arms of Government;
- (g) Offer advice on Party matters to the National Management Committee of the Party;
- (h) Attend any meetings of any other organs of the Party, except the National Caucus and the National Management Committee; and
- (i) Undertake all other functions and activities as may be referred to it by the National Consultative Committee or the National Convention.
- (6) The National Elders Committees shall regulate its own proceedings and shall draw up a code of conduct for its members.

63. Removal and Resignation

- (7) A member of the National Elders Committees shall-
 - Be removed from office by a resolution of the National Convention on the recommendations of the National Consultative Committee on grounds of infirmity or misconduct; or
 - (b) If he resigns his membership of the National Elders Committees by tendering a letter to that effect to the Chairman of the Party.
- (8) Without prejudice to the provisions of this constitution, a member of the National Elders Committees shall lose his membership of the Committee if
 - i. He is expelled from the Party; or
 - ii. He is removed from office, appointive or elective office which made him automatic member of the National Elders Committees under this Constitution.

(9) Fresh selection shall be made to fill any vacancies in the National Elders Committees where applicable.

64. Meetings

- (10) The National Elders Committee shall meet at the instance of the Chairman or at the request of half of the members of the Committee or following a resolution of the Board or the National Consultative Committee requesting for such a meeting.
- (11) The quorum of the National Elders Committee shall be two-third of its members drawn from at least two-third of the States in the Federation. A simple majority shall pass any motion.

PART 9

NATIONAL CONVENTION

65. Establishment and Composition

- (1) There shall be a National Convention of the Party which shall consist of-
 - (a) The National Chairman of the Party, who shall be the Chairman of the Convention and other members of the National Management Committee;
 - (b) The President and Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, who are members of the Party;
 - (c) Members of the National Assembly, who are members of the Party;
 - (d) State Governors and Deputy Governors, who are members of the Party;
 - (e) All Gubernatorial candidates of the Party; who shall be automatic delegates to the convention;
 - (f) Members of the State Houses of Assembly, who shall be automatic delegates to the Convention;
 - (g) Members of the National Elders Committee;

- Members of the Zonal Consultative Committee and State Party Chairmen and Secretaries, including those of the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja;
- (j) Party Chairmen of the Local Government Areas;
- (k) One National delegate from each Local Government Area to be elected at the Local Government Area congress for the purpose;
- (I) All elected Local Government Council Chairmen, who are members of the Party;
- (m) Former members of the National Management Committee who are still members of the Party; and
- (n) Former Senate Presidents and Deputy Presidents, former Speakers and Deputy Speakers of the House of Representatives and other Principals Officers of the National Assembly who are still members of the Party.

66. Functions

- (2) The National Convention shall be the supreme and controlling authority of the Party within the limits prescribed in this Constitution and it shall be the principal representative, policy making and administering body of the Party.
- (3) Except in the exercise of the functions granted only to other bodies as specified in this Constitution or in the regulations made pursuant to the provisions of this Constitution, the National convention shall have supremacy in all matters pertaining to the Party and all officers and organs of the Party shall be bound in the exercise of their functions by the decisions of the National Convention.
- (4) The policies of the Party derived from the resolutions of the National Convention shall be amended or revoked only by a subsequent resolution of the National Convention.
- (5) The National Convention shall have and exercise authority

to-

- a. Formulate policies and programmes for the Party;
- b. Elect or remove the National Officers of the Party;
- c. Elect the Presidential candidate of the Party;
- d. Demand and receive reports from the National ManagementCommittee and from any other committees or organs of the Party and take appropriate action on such reports;
- e. Appoint such committees, as it may deem necessary, desirable or expedient and assign to them such powers and functions as it may deem fit;
- f. Examine the actions taken or legislation proposed by any government under its control whether federal, state or local government council and ensure that they are in conformity with the policies and programmes of the Party;
- g. At all elections, secure the return of as many Party candidates as possible in a manner consistent with the laws of the land;
- h. Consider reports from the states and local government branches of the Party and take such decisions and actions as may be necessary to protect, advance and consolidate the gains and interest of the Party;
- i. Raise adequate funds for the Management and sustenance of the Party;
- j. Exercise control and take disciplinary action against all officers and members of the Party;
- k. Determine the type and membership of standing committees to be set up by the National Management Committee;
- 1. Review and amend the Constitution of the Party, from time to time, as the need arises and the power of the

National Convention to propose amendments to the Constitution shall not be delegated;

- m. Delegate any of its powers, except the power to amend the Constitution, to the National Management Committee or to any other organ of the Party;
- n. Take such other actions as may aid or facilitate the realization of the objectives of the Party;
- o. Appoint external Auditors to audit the Party's accounts;
- p. Determine the minimum rate of annual subscription to be paid by members and the proportion of income from such subscription to be remitted to the National Secretariat of the Party;
- Review, ratify, alter or rescind any decision taken by any of the constituent bodies, units or officials of the Party; and
- r. Exercise such other powers and authority not inconsistent with the provisions of this constitution as shall aid or facilitate the realization of the objectives of the Party.

67. Meetings

- (6) The quorum of the National convention shall be two-third of its membership and a simple majority shall pass any motion.
- (7) The National Convention shall meet every four years and shall alternate with the National Party Conference which shall hold biannually;
- (8) The National Conference shall hold bi-annually for the purpose of reviewing the performance of the Party in governance at all levels.
- (9) The National Convention shall determine its own procedure in accordance with democratic principles;
- (10) A Special National Convention may be convened at any time at the instance of the National Management Committee or if requested for by two-third of all State Congresses and the Special

National Convention shall meet to discuss only special matters which shall be specified in the notice summoning the Convention.

(11) Voting on key issues at the National Convention shall be by secret ballot.

PART 10

POWERS AND FUCTIONS OF OFFICERS

68. NATIONAL OFFICERS

There shall be the National Officers of the Party, who shall be men and women of integrity and demonstrable competence and shall perform the functions assigned to them in this constitution.

1. THE NATIONAL CHAIRMAN

There shall be a National Chairman who shall be the Chief Executive of the Party, and his functions shall be to:

- (a) Summon and preside over the meetings of the National Convention, the National Consultative Committee, the National Caucus and the National Management Committee of the Party;
- (b) Provide firm and effective leadership and direct the activities of the Party under the overall supervision of the National Management Committee;
- (c) Promote and defend the integrity, policies and programmes of the Party and make pronouncements for and on behalf of the National Management Committee outlining the policies, programmes and activities of the Party;

(d) Assign specific functions to any member or officer of the Party;

- (e) Delegate his powers to the Deputy National Chairman;
- (f) Cast votes if and when necessary.
- (g) Present to the National Convention a comprehensive statement of the State of the Party and the political situation generally;

(h) Ensure strict compliance with the provisions of this Constitution and do all such other things as shall promote the growth and welfare of the Party;

2. THE DEPUTY NATIONAL CHAIRMAN

There shall be a Deputy National Chairman who shall come either from the Northern or the Southern part of the country, depending on the part of the country the National Chairman hails from.

The Deputy National Chairman shall perform the following functions-

(a) Assist the National Chairman in the discharge of his/her duties;

(b) Deputize for the National Chairman in the latter's absence; and

(c) Performing such other Party functions as may be assigned to him.

3. THE NATIONAL SECRETARY

There shall be a National Secretary who shall be the Chief Administrative and Accounting Officer of the Party, whose functions shall be to-

- (a) Supervise the day-to-day activities of the Party;
- (b) Conduct or direct the conduct of the correspondences of the Party and cause to be issued notices of meetings of the National Convention, the National Consultative Committee, the National Caucus and the National Management Committee;
- (c) Keep or cause to be kept all records of proceedings of the National Convention, the National ConsultativeCommittee, the National Caucus and the National Management Committee, as well as other records of the Party;
- (d) Render a written annual report of the activities of the Party to National Consultative Committee, and National Convention;

- (e) Ensure the implementation of the decisions and directives of the National Convention, National Consultative Committee, National Caucus and the National Management Committee and ensure that all units of the Party carry out their duties promptly and efficiently;
- (f) Consult the National Chairman in the discharge of the duties of his or her office;
- (g) Carry out any other duties as may be assigned to him or her, from time-to-time by the National Convention, National Caucus, National Consultative Committee, National Management Committee and the National Chairman; and
- (h) The National Secretary of the Party shall be the custodian of the common seal of the Party.

4. The Deputy National Secretary

A Deputy National Secretary shall assist the National Secretary in the discharge of his/her duties and shall act for him/her in his absence or wherever so directed.

5. THE NATIONAL TREASURER

Thereshall be National Treasurer who shall be an Accountant with track records of prudence whose functions shall be to-

- (a) Receive and promptly pay into the Party's accounts all monies received for and on behalf of the Party and keep all cheque books and other banking documents of the Party;
- (b) Ensure prudent Management of the Party's funds;
- (c) Ensure that all funds received by the Party are paid into the Party's accounts immediately and if for any reason that is not possible, the fundshall be paid within 48 hours after collection; and
- (d) Prepare and submit a yearly statement of account and periodic reports to the National Management Committee.

6. The Deputy National Treasurer

There shall be a Deputy National Treasurer who shall assist the National Treasurer in the discharge of his/her duties and shall deputize in his absence.

7. The National Financial Secretary

There shall be a National Financial Secretary whose functions shall be to-

- (a) Collect and keep records of all dues, levies, subscriptions and donations paid or made to the Party;
- (b) Prepare and submit proposals for raising funds for the Party for the consideration of the National Management Committee;
- (c) Undertake strict supervision of budgeting, budgetary control and financial reporting;
- (d) Protect the assets of the Party and institute operating procedures through internal control; and
- (e) Establish and co-ordinate policies for the investment of funds to generate income for the Party.
- (f) Shall be a signatory to the account of the party alongside the Chairman and Secretary of the Party.

8. The Deputy National Financial Secretary

There shall be a Deputy National Financial Secretary who shall assist the National Financial Secretary in the discharge of his duties, and deputize for him in his absence.

9. The National Organizing Secretary

- There shall be a National Organizing Secretary whose functions shall be to:
- (a) Initiate programmes for the general mobilization of the members of the Party and the recruitment of new members;
- (b) Appraise the problems of the Party and proffer solutions to such problems;
- (c) Harmonize all information and devise appropriate strategy for winning elections;
- (d) Coordinate all field activities of the Party;
- (e) Organize seminars, workshops, rallies and campaign programmes for the attainment of the Party's objectives; and

(f) Liaise with the National Women and Youth Leaders for the harmonization of the programmes for the attainment of the Party's success at all elections.

10. The Deputy National Organizing Secretary

There shall be a Deputy National Organizing Secretary who shall assist the National Organizing Secretary in the discharge of his or her duties, and shall deputise for him in his absence.

11. The National Publicity Secretary

There shall be a National Publicity Secretary whose functions shall be to:

(a) Co-ordinate all information and public relations of the Party;

- (b) Be the chief image maker of the Party; and
- (c) Cause to be publicized, the policies and programmes of the Party in line with the aims and objectives of the Party.

12. The DeputyNational Publicity Secretary

There shall be a Deputy National Publicity Secretary who shall assist the National Publicity Secretary in the discharge of his or her duties, and shall deputize for him in his absence.

13. The National Auditor

- 41(1) There shall be a National Auditor of the Party, who shall be an Accountant and whose functions shall be to-
 - (a) Audit the books of account of the Party annually and report to the National Management Committee;
 - (b) Present the audited account of the Party to the National Convention; and
 - (c) Carry out any other functions as may be directed by the National Management Committee.

14. The Deputy National Auditor

There shall be a Deputy National Auditor who shall be an Accountant and who shall assist the National Auditor in the

discharge of his or her duties, and shall deputize for him in his absence.

15. The National Legal Adviser

There shall be a National Legal Adviser of the Party who shall be a lawyer of not less than 15 years post-call and whose functions shall be to-

- (a) Advise the Party on all legal matters;
- (b) Conduct all litigation and prosecute and defend actions on behalf of the Party, including its organs and officials in so far as the subject of the litigation affects the interest of the Party; and
- (c) Interpret the laws, regulations and Constitution of the Party in the event of any ambiguities.

16. Deputy National Legal Adviser

There shall be a Deputy National Legal Adviser, who shall be a lawyer of not less than 10 years post call experience and who shall assist the National Legal Adviser in the discharge of his or her duties, and shall deputize for him in his absence.

17. The National Women Leader

There shall be a National Women Leader, who shall be responsible for:

- (a) Mobilizing and organizing women;
- (b) Initiating and implementing strategic programmes and policies aimed at endearing the Party to Nigerian women; and

(c) Coordinating the activities of the Zonal and State Women Leaders.

18. The Deputy National Women Leader

There shall be a Deputy National Women Leader who shall assist the National Women Leader in the discharge of her duties; and shall deputize for her in her absence.

19. The National Youth Leader

There shall be a National Youth Leader, whose functions shall be-

- Mobilizing the youth for the attainment of the objectives of the Party;
- (b) Initiating and implementing strategic programmes and policies aimed at endearing the Party to the Nigerian youth; and
- (c) Co-ordinating the activities of the Zonal and State Youth Leaders.

20. The Deputy National Youth Leader

There shall be a Deputy National Youth Leader who shall assist the National Youth Leader in the discharge of his duties, and shall deputize for him in his absence.

21. The National Physically Challenged Leader

There shall be a National Physically Challenged Leader whose functions shall be-

- (a) Mobilizing the Physically Challenged Persons for the attainment of the objectives of the Party;
- (b) Initiating and implementing strategic programme and policies aimed at endearing the Party to the Nigerian Physically Challenged persons; and
- (c) Co-ordinating the activities of the Zonal and State Physically Challenged Leaders.

22. The Deputy National Physically Challenged Leader

There shall be a National Physically Challenged Leader who shall assist the National Physically Challenged Leader in the discharge of his/her duties and shall deputize in his/her absence.

PART 11

69. **RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF NATIONAL OFFICERS**

a) If a National Officer of the Party is removed or resigns from office, he shall immediately hand over to the National Secretary all records, files and other properties of the Party in his or her possession.

- b) In the case of the National Chairman, he shall hand over to the Deputy National chairman who shall, without prejudice to Section 47 (6) of this Constitution, act as the National Chairman pending the election of a replacement.
- c) In the case of National Secretary, he shall hand over to the Deputy National Secretary.
- d) This provision shall apply *mutatis mutandis* at all levels of the Party structure.

70. POWERS OF OFFICERS AT OTHER LEVELS

- a. Except where the provisions of this Constitution state otherwise, all other officers at the Zonal, State, Local Government Area and Ward levels shall, in relation to their respective functions, have the same powers as their corresponding National Officers.
- b. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, Management Committee at all levels shall have power to set up committees where necessary, desirable or expedient and shall assign to them such powers and functions as may be deemed appropriate.
- c. The Management Committee at all levels shall, in the appointment or election of members of the Management Committees at respective levels of the Party, observe and apply the principle of Federal Character.

71. TENURE OF OFFICE OF PARTY OFFICERS

- a. All National, Zonal, State, Local Government Area and Ward Officers of the Party shall hold office for a term of four years and shall be eligible for re-election for another term of four years and no more.
- b. The election of National Officers shall be at the National Convention, while that of those at the lower levels shall be at the respective congresses.
- c. A vote of confidence may be moved on any member of the Management Committee of the Party at any level whether National Convention or congress of the Party two years into the tenure of such member of the Management Committee, and where such a vote fails to be carried the Management Committee member shall be replaced at that National

convention or congress, as the case may be. Provided that two months' notice of such vote of confidence motion shall cause to be circulated to the relevant chapters one month before the National Convention or Congress, as the case may be.

- d. A vote of confidence shall be deemed defeated if not passed by a simple majority of the members of the Party at the Convention or Congress sitting and voting.
- e. Any officer elected into the Management Committee of the Party at any level may resign his or her office by giving thirty days' notice in writing to the appropriate Management Committee, except in the case of resignation for the purpose of vying for an elective office which shall be effective within the period stipulated in the guideline issued for such elective office by the State Management Committee in respect of Local Government elections.
- f. Where a vacancy occurs in any of the offices of the Party, the Management Committee at the appropriate level shall appoint another person from the area or zone where the officer originated from, pending the conduct of election to fill the vacancy.

72. PROHIBITION FROM HOLDING DUAL OFFICES

Subject to the provisions of this constitution, any member holding any office in the Party at any level shall be deemed to have resigned that office, if he or she assumes any of the following offices-

- (a) President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria.
- (b) Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria.
- (c) Minister of the Federal Republic of Nigeria;
- (d) Secretary to the Government of the Federation;
- (e) Special Adviser or Special Assistant to the President or Vice President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria;
- (f) Membership of the National and State Assemblies;
- (g) Ambassador;

- (h) Governor or Deputy Governor of a state;
- (i) Commissioner, Special Adviser or Special Assistant to the Governor or Deputy Governor of a State;
- (j) Chairman, Vice Chairman or Councillor of a Local Government Council;
- (k) Any full time employment or appointment in the public service of the Federation, State or Local Government.

PART 12

73. MODE OF ELECTION OF OFFICERS OF THE PARTY

- a. The National Convention, the Zonal, State, Local Government Area and Ward Congresses shall meet to elect the officers of the Party at the various levels of the Party structure as specified in this constitution including the Federal Capital Territory.
- b. Every registered member of the Party who has satisfied the requirements for nomination and election under this Constitution, the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria or any other law, rules or regulations in force shall be eligible to contest for any of the offices of the Party.
- c. The guidelines for elections to any office of the Party shall be approved by the National Management Committee of the Party in accordance with the provisions of this Constitution.
- d. No member of the Party shall be qualified for nomination or election or appointment into any of the offices of the Party, unless he or she has been a registered member for at least 18 months, and is of good financial standing in the Party, except there is a waiver by the appropriate Management Committee.

PART 13

74. NOMINATION OF CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION INTO PUBLIC OFFICES

(1) The National Management Committee shall, subject to the provisions of the Constitution of the Federal Republic of

Nigeria, 1999 (as amended), the Electoral Act (as amended) and this Constitution, formulate guidelines and regulations for the nomination of candidates for election into public offices at all levels and shall be the final authority for resolving all disputes relating to the choice of candidates for the Party for any election and for conveying to the Independent National Electoral Commission, or any other authority to whom it may concern, confirming the names or list of names of candidates for the Party in any elective public office in the federation.

- (2) Notwithstanding the provisions of PART 4 of this Constitution, the National Management Committee shall regulate the procedure for selecting the Party's candidates for elective offices in the following manner prescribed below;
 - In the conduct of primaries for the Party's candidate for the post of the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, the primary shall be held at the National Convention of the Party specially convened for that purpose;
 - (b) In the conduct of primaries for the Party's candidate for the post of Governorship of a state, the primary shall be held at the State Congress of the Party specially convened for that purpose;
 - (c) In the conduct of primaries for the Party's candidate for the post of Senator, the primaries shall be held at Senatorial DistrictHeadquarters;
 - (d) In the conduct of primaries for the Party's candidate for the post of member of the House of Representatives, the primaries shall be held at the constituency Headquarters;
 - (e) In the conduct of primaries for the Party's candidate for the post of Local Government Council Chairman and House of Assembly, the primaries shall be held at the local government constituency Headquarters;
- (3) Congress for the election of ward officers, councillorship candidates and the 3 delegates to Local Government Congress and State Congress, out of which at least one (1) shall be a woman, shall be by direct primaries in which all

card carrying members of the Party at ward level shall participate;

- (4) There shall be a minimum of two year membership span for a member to be eligible to stand for election into any public office, unless the appropriate Management Committee gives a waiver or rules to the contrary.
- (5) In considering the waiver mentioned in Section 74(4), of this constitution the following shall apply:
 - (a) For members aspiring for nomination for election to the post of Councillors, Local Government Council Chairman or membership, the deciding authority shall be the State Management Committee; and
 - (b) For members aspiring for Party positions or nomination for State House of Assembly election, National Assembly, posts of Governors or Deputy Governors, President or Vice President, the deciding authority shall be the National Working Committee, through the National Management Committee, **provided** that the process of clearance of the waiver starts from the ward level.
- (6) In respect of any decision under subsection 5(a) of this section, any aggrieved person shall have recourse to appeal to the National Management Committee, through the National Working Committee of the Party.
- (7) There shall be a minimum of one year membership span for a member to be eligible to be considered for political appointment, but this is without prejudice to the discretion of the appropriate authority.
- (8) Where the appropriate Committee rules to the contrary, the ruling must be approved by the immediate higher Management Committee, save for National Management Committee which is final authority.
- (9) Candidates for Party positions must possess a minimum of secondary school certificate or its equivalent as requisite qualification to be eligible to contest except waived by the Management Committee concerned. The demand for literacy as a qualification should not be compulsory at the ward level.

PART 14

75. FUNDING

- (1)There shall be established and maintained for the Party a fund into which shall be paid all:
 - (a) Subscription, fees, and levies from membership of the Party;
 - (b) Proceeds from investments made by the Party;
 - (c) Subventions and donations;
 - (d) Gifts and grants by individuals or groups of individuals as authorized by law;
 - (e) Loans approved by the National Management Committee; and

(f) Such other monies as may be lawfully received by the Party.

- (2) An annual membership subscription fee of N600 per annum, or such amount as the National Working Committee, upon the recommendation of the National Management Committee, may, from time to time, approve shall be paid by all members.
- (3) The fee shall be paid as and when due and endorsed on the membership card.
- (4) For the purpose of strengthening the Party's finances, all elected and appointed Party men and women should be made to pay the following additional levies-
 - (a) Elected Public Officers in the legislature (at the three tiers of government): 5% of annual basic salary.
 - (b) Appointed public officers (at the three tiers of government) 5% of annual basic salary.
 - (c) Ambassadors: 5% of annual basic salary.
 - (d) Board Chairmen at Federal level: 5% of their basic allowances or remuneration.
- (5) The various individuals and friends of the Party that enjoy patronage from the Party at National, State and Local Government levels shall be encouraged to make donations

annually to the Party, and these must be consistent with any law in operation at the time of the donation.

- (6) Money generated from the sale of nomination forms shall form part of the Party's finances.
- (7) The Party shall hold a National Chairman's Annual Fund Raising Dinner at which friends and members of the Party will be charged, in a manner to be recommended by the National Finance Committee of the Party and approved by the National Management Committee, to raise fund for the Party.

76. BORROWING POWER

- (1) The Party may, with the consent of or in accordance with any general authority given by the National Management Committee, borrow, by way of loan or overdraft, from any source, any money required by the Party to meet its obligations and functions under this Constitution.
- (2) Subject to the provisions of this Constitution and the conditions of any trust in respect of any property, the Party may invest all or any of its funds with the consent or general authority of the National Management Committee.

77. TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY IN THE MANAGEMENT OF PARTY FINANCES

- (1) For the purpose of ensuring transparency, accountability and transparency in the Management of finances of the Party, The National Management Committee shall design Standard Financial regulations to govern the Management of Party's finances at all levels.
- (2) At the National level, the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, if a member of the Party, shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this constitution as affects membership dues expected from Federal Political appointees, while the Senate President and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, as the Leaders of the National Assembly, if members of the Party, shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this Constitution by members of the Party in the National Assembly.
- (3) At the State level, the Governor of the State, if a member of the Party shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this

constitution as relates to membership dues in respect of all State political appointees, while the Speaker of the State House of Assembly, if a member of the Party or the leader of the Party in the State House of Assembly shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this Constitution by members of the Party in the State House of Assembly.

(4) At the Local Government level, the Chairman of the Local Government council, if a member of the Party, shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this constitution as relates to membership dues in respect of all Local Government Council political appointees, while the leader of the Local Government Legislative House shall ensure compliance with the provisions of this constitution by members of the Party in the Local Government Legislative house.

78. BANK ACCOUNTS

- (1) The Party shall maintain a Bank Account at the city or town where its Headquarters is situated and where bank facilities are not available, the services of the bank nearest to the city or town shall be utilized.
- (2) The Management Committee of the Party at any level shall decide the banks to be used in keeping the account.
- (3) The authorized signatories to the bank account and other financial transactions shall be the following officers, as the case may be:
 - (a) The National Chairman or his or her counterparts at Zonal, State, Local Government and Ward levels;
 - (b) The National Secretary or his or her counterparts at Zonal, State, local government and ward levels;
 - (c) The National Financial Secretary or his or her counterpart as zonal, state, local government and ward levels;

provided that withdrawals from or debit instructions on the account shall be valid only if authorized by the National Chairman or his counterpart at the other levels, and any of the two signatories, that is, the National Secretary or Treasurer of the Party at the appropriate levels.

79. AUDIT OF PARTY ACCOUNTS

- (1) The National Management Committee of the Party shall appoint a competent firm of Auditors to audit the accounts of the Party annually and present the report of the audited accounts at the National Convention.
- (2) The Zonal, State and the Local Government Management Committees shall, similarly, appoint a competent firm of Auditors to audit the accounts of the Party annually and present the report of the audited accounts at their respective congresses.

PART 15

80. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

- (1) Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, there shall be a Disciplinary Committee of the Party at every level consisting of seven members with proven integrity, one of whom shall have a legal background.
- (2) The Disciplinary Committee shall be appointed by the appropriate Management Committee of the Party.
- (3) The Management Committee, at any level of the Party, and the Management Committee (at the Ward Level) may, after preliminary hearings, suspend a member from the Party for a period not exceeding one month, during which period the member so suspended shall lose his right to contest any election, and shall be referred to the appropriate Disciplinary Committee.
- (4) Where an allegation is made against a member of the Party, the Disciplinary Committee shall inform the member in writing of the allegations made against him or her and the place and time of hearing the case against him or her.
- (5) A member who appears before a Disciplinary Committee shall be given opportunity to present his case orally or in writing either in person or through a counsel of his choice and shall be allowed to call witnesses.
- (6) Any decision taken against a member who has not been informed of the charges against him or has not been given any opportunity of defending himself shall be null and void.

(7) Notwithstanding any other provision relating to discipline, no Management Committee at any level, except the National Management Committee, shall entertain any question of discipline as may relate or concern a member of the National Management Committee, Deputy Governors or members of the National Assembly.

Provided that nothing in this Constitution shall preclude or invalidate any complaint submitted through the National Management Committee to the National Consultative Committee concerning any person whatsoever.

PART 16

OFFENCES AND SANCTIONS

81. OFFENCES

(1) Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, the Party shall have power to discipline any member who:

(a) Commits any breach of the Party's Constitution, and or Manifesto;

- (b) Says or does anything likely to bring the Party into disrepute, hatred or contempt;
- (c) Disobeys or neglects to carry out lawful directives of the Party or any organ or officer of the Party;
- (d) Engages in dishonest practices, defrauds the Party, its members or officials;
- (e) Is persistently absent from meetings or other official duties;
- (f) Engages in anti-Party activities;
- (g) Engages in disorderly conduct at meetings or rallies or at any Party function;
- (h) Engages in any conduct likely to cause disaffection among members of the Party or is likely to disrupt the peaceful, lawful and efficient conduct of the business of the Party;
- (i) Engages in unauthorized publicity of disputes within the Party or creates a parallel Party organ at any level;

- (j) Promotes factions or belongs to any group under the guise of the Party and by whatever name called, not being one provided for in this constitution;
- (k) Organizes, retains, trains, equips or encourages the organization, retention, training, equipping of any member or group of members for the purpose of employing violence or coercion or any form of intimidation whatsoever;
- (I) Resorts to court action or litigation on any disputes or on any matter whatsoever concerning rights, obligations and duties of any member of the Party without first availing himself or herself of the remedies provided by the Party under this constitution; or
- (m) Fails, refuses or neglects to treat a petition, complaints or appeal timorously.

82. SANCTIONS

- (1) Any member of the Party who commits any of the offences listed in Section 81 (1) (a-m) of this Constitution shall be liable to any or a combination of the following penalties-
 - (a) Reprimand;
 - (b) Censure;
 - (c) Fine;
 - (d) Suspension with a fine;
 - (e) Debarment from holding any Party office;
 - (f) Removal from office;
 - (g) Expulsion from the Party.
- (2) Subject to the provisions of Part 15 of this Constitution, the Management Committee, at any level of the Party, shall have power to decide on any of the disciplinary measures to be taken against any member at that level.
- (3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution relating to discipline, no Management Committee at any level except the National Management Committee shall entertain any question of discipline as may relate or concern a member of the National

Management Committee, President, Vice President, Governors, Deputy Governors, Ministers, Ambassadors, Special Advisers or member of any of the legislative houses.

- (4) The appropriate Management Committee shall have the power to initiate and take necessary disciplinary action against other categories of Management Committee members, public Office Holders and other members of the Party.
- (5) Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, the National Management Committee shall have power to expel any member of the Party for acts of indiscipline or misconduct which brings, or is likely to bring, the Party into disrepute.

83. REMEDIES

- (1) If any member of the Party is aggrieved, he shall report to the appropriate authority.
- (2) If he or she is not satisfied, an appeal shall lie with the next higher Party authority.
- (3) All appeals must be dealt with timeously, expeditiously; in any event not later than 2 weeks after the filing of the appeal.
- (4) The National Management Committee of the Party shall be the final arbiter, **provided** that failure, refusal or neglect to treat a report, petition, complaint or appeal on the part of the arbiter shall, in itself, constitute an offence.

84. APPEAL

- (1) Any member of the Party who is aggrieved by a decision taken against him by any of the organs or officers of the Party shall have the right of appeal to the immediate higher organ of the Party within fourteen days of the decision.
- (2) An appeal shall be determined by the appropriate appeal body within twenty-one days from the date of the receipt of the notice of appeal by the appropriate Management Committee or any other.

PART 17

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

85. CONTRACTUAL LIABILITY

(1) The Party shall be a body corporate with perpetual succession and a common seal and can sue or be sued in its corporate name with power to acquire, hold and alienate property, enter into agreements and to do all things necessary to carry out its aims and objectives and defend its members, properties and reputation.

(2) Only National Officers of the Party shall have the authority to create any legal relationship binding on the Party.

86. COMMON SEAL

There shall be a common seal of the Party, which shall be in the custody of the National Secretary of the Party.

87. OATH OF OFFICE

Any person elected or appointed into any office of the Party shall subscribe to the Oath of Office as provided in Schedule I to this Constitution, in the language that he or she understands and before a Commissioner for Oaths or Notary Public.

88. AMENDMENTS

- (1) The Party shall have the power to amend this constitution, save that no amendment of the constitution shall be valid unless made by a motion passed by two-third majority of members present and voting at the National Convention.
- (2) The Notice of the proposed amendment to the Constitution shall be given to the National Secretary, at least two months before the date of the National Convention and the notice, which shall be in writing, shall contain a clear statement of the amendment sought and the reasons for the amendment.
- (3) The National Secretary upon receipt of the notice shall cause it to be circulated to the State branches of the Party for publication at least one month before the date of the National Convention.

89. INTERPRETATION

(1) Any question as to the meaning of any section of this constitution or the Schedule hereto shall be referred to the National Management Committee whose interpretation of the same shall be final.

In this constitution:

(a)"Founding Members"mean (founding members of the Party);

(b)"Funds"Include valuable properties;

- (c) "He" or "His"shall include the female gender;
- (d)"The Party"means THE GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA;
- (e) "Month"means calendar month;
- (f) "Constitution" means Constitution of The Green Party of Nigeria.

(g) Wherecomputation of any figure in this Constitution results in a fraction, the figure obtained shall be approximated to the nearest whole number;

- (h) "Youth"means a member between the ages of 18 and 40 years.
- (i) "Congress"a large formal meeting or series of meetings where representatives from different Party levels discuss ideas, make decisions, pass resolutions and conduct election;
- (j) "Physically Challenged persons" means people with various disabilities;
- (k) "National Convention"- The largest meeting of GPN Members at National level which is the highest authority of the Party where decisions are ratified and Presidential candidates and National Officers are elected;
- (I) "Delegates"means elected or nominated representatives of the Party at any level of the structure of the Party;
- (m) "National"This refers to Federal level as contained in the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999 (as amended);
- (n) "Zonal"refers to each of the geo-political entities viz North East, North Central, North West, South East, South West, SouthSouth;

- (o) "State" refers to geographical entity as defined in the constitution of Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999;
- (p) "Local Government Area"refers to the Local Government Area as defined by Section 7 and particularly Schedule 2 of the Constitution of Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999;
- (q) "Ward"refers to the area delineation of the Local Government Area by the Independent National Electoral Commission;
- (r) "Direct Primaries" refers to a Party Executive Congress to be held in each Ward and all registered and financial members of the Party to participate in electing a candidate of the Party for election into public office.

SCHEDULE I

OATH OF ALLEGIANCE

SCHEDULES II

OATH OF OFFICE

I,.....do solemnly swear/affirm that I shall be faithful and bear true allegiance to the GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA, I shall discharge my duties to the best of my ability, faithfully and in accordance with the Constitution of The Party and always in the interest of the integrity, solidarity, advancement, wellbeing and prosperity of the Party and the Federal Republic of Nigeria; that I will strive to pursue, enhance and achieve the aims and objectives of the Party as contained in its Constitution and Manifesto; that I shall not allow my personal interest to influence my official decision; that in all circumstances I shall do right to all the members of the Party and to all manner of people, according to law without fear or favour, affection or ill-will; that I shall not directly or indirectly communicate or reveal to any person any matter which shall be brought to my attention or which shall become known to me as an officer of the Party, except as may be required for the due discharge of my duties and that I shall devote myself to the service and well-being of the people of Nigeria. So help me God.

SCHEDULE III

PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS

1. Language to be used at meetings

The proceedings of the meetings of the Party at all levels shall be in the English language or any Nigerian language understood by a majority of members of the Party at respective levels;

- 2. All the meetings of the Party shall be chaired by the Chairman or in his or her absence, the Deputy Chairman at the relevant level and in the event of the absence of the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman; members present shall elect a member from amongst themselves to preside over the meeting.
- 3. The rules and regulations governing the conduct of any meetings of the Party shall be as approved, from time to time, by the National Management Committee of the Party.

SCHEDULE IV

STAFF RULES

(1) Employees of the Party shall be subject to the direct control and discipline of the National, Zonal, State, Local Government area and ward secretariat of the Party and appeals on matters of the discipline and routine administration matters shall lie with the Secretary at the various levels, in compliance with the nestablishment manual.

All employees of the Party shall be bound by the provisions of this constitution, the rules and regulations of the Party and the decisions of the National Management Committee and other authorized organs of the Party.

(2) A person who seeks and obtains employment in the Party shall be deemed to be a member of the Party.

- (3) Any employee of the Party who acts in a manner likely to bring contempt or ridicule to the Party or its officers or take part in subversive activities against the Party or its officers shall, if found guilty, be immediately relieved of his or her post.
- (4) Erring employees shall be afforded ample opportunity to defend themselves before disciplinary action is taken against them.
- (5) No employee of the Party shall seek nomination to enable him or her contest any election, unless he or she resigns his or her appointment one month to the date of the election.
- (6) The remuneration and other conditions of service of employees of the Party shall be determined as follows:
 - a. For employees of the Party at the National level, the National Convention on the recommendation of the National Management Committee;
 - b. For employees of the Party at the State level, by the State Congress on the recommendation of the State Management Committee;
 - c. For employees of the Party at the ward level, by the Local Government Area Congress on the recommendation of the Local Government Management Committees.

THE NATIONAL CONVENTION OF GREEN PARTY OF NIGERIA (GPN) HELD ON 1st JULY 2017 IN ABUJA APPROVED AND RATIFIED THIS CONSTITUTION

Purchi

CHIEF SAM EKE Ph.D National Chairman

HAJARA ISHAKU National Secretary